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DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - Appel | ant Jason Paul Walters (“Walters”) pleaded
guilty to being a felon in possession of a firearmin violation of
18 U.S.C. 88 922(g)(1) and 924(a)(2) (“count 1"), and to using or
carrying a firearmduring and in relation to a drug trafficking
crime, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1)(A) (“count 2"). He
appeals the 15-nonth sentence inposed on the basis of count 1
pursuant to United States v. Booker, 543 U S ---, 1256 S. Q. 738

(2005) . Because we find that the error in this case was not

harm ess, we VACATE Walters’s sentence and REMAND f or resent enci ng.



BACKGROUND

On Decenber 15, 2002, Walters was charged by a two-count
indictment with possession of a firearm subsequent to a felony
conviction, in violation of 18 U. S.C. 88 922(Qg)(1) and 924(a)(2),
and with using or carrying a firearmduring and in relation to a
drug trafficking crine, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1)(A.
On February 4, 2004, without a witten agreenent, Walters entered
a plea of guilty to both counts of the indictnent.

The presentence report (“PSR") determ ned that t he
i nprisonment range under the Guidelines on count 1 was 15 to 21
nont hs, see USSG § 2K2.1(a)(6),! and that the inprisonment range on
count 2 was the statutory nmandatory consecutive sentence of 60
nmonths, see 18 U S.C 8§ 924(c)(1)(A)(i). Walters did not make
objections to the PSR, which the district court adopted at
sent enci ng on August 4, 2004. The district court conmended Wal ters
for attending drug treatnent and for not rel apsing i nto drug usage.
Def ense counsel argued that the m ni numconbi ned 75-nmonth sentence

“seens too nmuch” and requested the bottomof the Guideline sentence

Al t hough & 2K2.1(b)(5) normally triggers a 4-level increase
where the defendant used the firearm in connection with other
fel oni es, which would have increased Walters’s base offense |evel
to 18, the probation officer noted that Application Note 2 to §
2K2.4 instructs that no adjustnent under 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) should be
applied because Walters’'s conviction under count 2 required a
mandat ory consecutive sentence. The probation officer did not
reconmmend any sentenci ng enhancenents. After applying a 2-Ievel
reduction for acceptance of responsibility under 8 3E1.1, Walters’s
total offense level was 12 and his crimnal history was I1I1.
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on count 1. In response, the district court agreed and stated:
“Well, 1’"’mgoing to give you the bottomof the guideline range. |
think that it’s an unfairly severe sentence al so, frankly, but I'm
bound by the statute. I nmean, | have very little wggle room
This 60 nonth consecutive is a killer, if you ask ne.”

The district court then sentenced Walters to serve 15 nonths
on count 1 and a consecutive 60 nonths on count 2. The court also
i nposed concurrent two-year and five-year terns of supervised
rel ease, as well as a $200 speci al assessnment, but no fine. After
i nposition of the sentence, the court then stated:

| don’t know that | have the power to do this because the

924(c) count just requires everything be consecutive —

that is, the 60 nonths be consecutive with anythi ng under

the other charge. | think I can’t do anything, and so

"Il inpose this sentence both under the guidelines and

in the exercise of ny unfettered discretion if the

gui delines were to be decl ared unconstitutional in whole

or in part.

Def ense counsel objected and asserted that:

i f the guidelines were decl ared unconstitutional, | would

i ke to come back and argue for a 60-nonth sentence, not

a 75-nonth sentence, because, as the count’s already

pointed out, this seens to be unduly severe from the

st andpoi nt of viewng this case outside of the framework

of the guidelines.

The district court agreed with counsel and stated, “in the exercise
of nmy unfettered discretion, | would inpose a 60-nonth sentence.
That’s an alternative and it’s only in the event the guidelines are
decl ared unconstitutional. |In total.” Wlters tinely appeal ed.

DI SCUSSI ON



This Court differentiates between the two types of error
addressed in Booker. See United States v. Villegas, 404 F.3d 355,
364 (5th Cr. 2005); United States v. Mares, 402 F.3d 511, 520 n.9
(5th Cr. 2005). Booker error is found where the district court
applied the mandatory GCuidelines and enhanced a defendant’s
sentence on the basis of facts neither admtted by hi mnor found by
a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, in violation of the Sixth
Amendnent. See Booker, 125 S. . at 756; Villegas, 404 F.3d at
364. What this Court has ternmed “Fanfan error” is found where the
district court applied the mandatory GGuidelines to enhance a
def endant’ s sentence absent any Si xth Anmendnent Booker error. See
United States v. Martinez-Lugo, 411 F. 3d 597, 2005 W. 1331282, at
*2 (5th CGr. Jun. 7, 2005); Villegas, 404 F.3d at 364.

Here, Walters does not nake a Booker argunent. | nst ead,
Walters argues that a sentence inposed under the nmandatory
Cui del i nes systemi s erroneous under the new post - Booker sentenci ng
regine. Wilters bases this on the Suprene Court’s rejection of a
remedy that would | eave the Quidelines advisory in any case where
their application would result in a Sixth Arendnent violation but
mandatory in all other cases. See Booker, 125 S. Q. at 768 (“Such
a two-proposal system seens unlikely to further Congress’ basic
obj ective of pronmoting uniformty in sentencing.”). Thus, Walters
asserts Fanfan error.

The governnent agrees with Walters that his objection in the
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district court to the court’s alternative sentence, in the event
the Quidelines were held unconstitutional, preserved his Fanfan
chal l enge. Regarding the standard of review, WAlters urges that
the Fanfan error argued here is structural and thus insusceptible
of harml ess error analysis. See Neder v. United States, 527 U. S.
1, 8-9 (1999). This Court has rejected that exact contention

Martinez- Lugo, 2005 W 1331282, at *2 (finding argunent
i nconsistent with the requirenment in Mares and Villegas “that the
error affect the particul ar defendant’ s substantial rights, draw ng
no distinction between a ‘Booker’ error and a ‘Fanfan’ error for
the purposes of enploying plain error review)(enphasis in
original).

W review a case where the defendant preserved his Fanfan
challenge in district court under the Rule 52(a) harnless error
standard. See Mares, 402 F.3d at 520 n.9 (“[I]f . . . the issue
presented in Fanfan is preserved in the district court by an
objection, we wll ordinarily vacate the sentence and renand,
unl ess we can say the error is harm ess under Rule 52(a) of the
Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure.”); cf. Martinez-Lugo, 2005 W
1331282, at *2 (applying plain error review where Fanfan i ssue not
preserved in district court). Under harm ess error review, “[a]ny
error, defect, irreqgularity, or variance that does not affect
substantial rights nust be disregarded.” Feb. R CRM P. 52(a).

This Court determined in the context of a Fanfan chall enge
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that “[i]t is clear after Booker that application of the Guidelines
in their mandatory formconstitutes error that is plain.” United
States v. Val enzuel a- Quevedo, 407 F.3d 728, 733 (5th G r. 2005);
see al so Martinez-Lugo, 2005 W. 1331282, at *2 (noting Fanfan error
is both “plain” and “error”). Thus, the only question is whether
the governnent has net its burden to show harm ess error beyond a
reasonable doubt in the inposition of Walters's sentence. See
United States v. Pineiro, 410 F.3d 282, 286 (5th G r. 2005); see
also United States v. O ano, 507 U S. 725, 734-35 (1993) (noting
i nqui ry under harm ess error to determ ne prejudice is the sane as
wth plain error, except burden falls on the governnent, not the
defendant); Chapman v. California, 386 US. 18, 24 (1967)
(“[B]efore a federal constitutional error can be held harm ess, the
court nust be able to declare a belief that it was harnl ess beyond
a reasonabl e doubt.”).

VWhet her the governnent has shown harm ess error in the inmposition
of Walters's sentence.

The governnent notes that the district court could not revisit
the 60-nonth statutorily nmandated sentence inposed on count 2.
| ndeed, Walters nmakes no argunent to that effect. But the
governnment contends that in any event, the inposition of the 15-
nmont h sentence as to count 1 constitutes harmnl ess error because it
was a reasonabl e sentence. To that end, the governnent urges that

the district court took into account the G@uidelines, defense



counsel s argunents and Wal ters’ s statenents before sentencing, and
the PSR, which was prepared in conpliance with Federal Rule of
Crimnal Procedure 32(d). In addition, the governnent argues that
although the district court indicated that it believed the
mandat ory 60-nonth consecutive sentence on count 2 was unfairly
severe, the court recognized it was bound by the statute.
According to the governnent’s characterization, the district court
gave no indication that it believed the 15-nonth sentence as to
count 1 was too harsh, except that the court stated that if the
CGuidelines were declared totally unconstitutional, then it would
i npose a 60-nonth sentence.

The governnent also contends that for the district court to
resentence Walters to a 60-nonth term of inprisonnent, the court
woul d have to reduce Walters’'s sentence on count 1 to probation;
and the court never indicated that it considered probation to be an
appropriate sentence for a felon-in-possession charge, especially
where the PSR showed Walters had two prior drug convictions.
Finally, the governnent argues that because the CGui del i nes were not
declared totally unconstitutional and the district court nust stil
consider the application of the GGuidelines in a post-Booker
environnent, the court would likely resentence Walters to exactly
t he sane 15-nonth sentence on count 1 and thus to the same 75-nonth
conbi ned sentence on both counts.

Walters argues that the governnent fails to show harnl ess



error beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Wlters points to the | anguage of
the district court at sentencing indicating that in a post-Booker
world that allowed for “unfettered discretion,” it would choose to
exercise that discretion to conclude that the 75-nonth sentence it
felt constrained to i npose was harsher than necessary in Walters’s
case (that is, to neet the purposes of sentencing identified in 18
U S C 8§ 3553(a)) and would choose to inpose only the statutorily
mandat ed 60-nonth sentence pursuant to count 2 if the Guidelines
were declared unconstitutional. I ndeed, Walters insists the
district court could not have nore clearly expressed such intent
than by saying, “[lI]n the exercise of ny unfettered discretion,
woul d i npose a 60-nonth sentence.”

After close exam nation of the sentencing hearing transcript,
we find that the Fanfan error in this case was prejudicial to
Walters. The Fanfan error affected the sentence Walters received
because the mandatory nature of the GQuidelines at the tinme of his
sentencing forced the district court to i npose at | east the m ni mum
15-nonth termfor count 1, in addition to the statutorily nmandated
60- nont h consecuti ve sentence on count 2, where the court indicated
that Walters’'s total inposed sentence of 75 nonths seened too
harsh. See Mares, 402 F.3d at 521 (noting that “the standard for
determ ning whether an error affects substantial rights” is that
“the error ‘must have affected the outcone of the district court

proceedi ngs’”) (quoting O ano, 507 U S. at 734); see also Pineiro,



410 F. 3d at 286 (explaining the standard as “the district court
woul d have inposed the sanme sentence absent the error”).

The governnent is correct that the district court was “bound
by the statute,” 18 U S.C. 8 924(c)(1)(A) (i), to inpose the 60-
month sentence on count 2 consecutively to any other sentence
(here, that inposed on count 1). However, we disagree with the
governnent’s contention that the district court gave no indication
that it believed the 15-nonth sentence on count 1 was too harsh
In response to defense counsel’s contention that “75 nonths seens
too nmuch” and his request for the m nimum Guidelines sentence on
count 1 (here, 15 nonths), and after Wilters had a chance to
allocute, the district court expressly stated that it would i npose
the bottom of the Cuidelines range on count 1 and that it thought
“It’s an unfairly severe sentence also, frankly” — where “it’s”
likely referred to the 75-nonth m ni num conbi ned total sentence
just referenced by defense counsel. In any event, the district
court also indicated that it felt it had “very little w ggle roont
and thought it could not “do anything” to manipulate Walters’s
sentence in a situation where Walters was subject to the nmandatory
Guidelines reginme requiring a mni mum 15-nonth sentence on count 1
to be inposed consecutively to the statutorily mandated 60-nonth
sentence on count 2.

In addition, after the district court indicated it would
i npose the 75-nmonth sentence alternatively in the event “the
guidelines were to be declared unconstitutional in whole or in
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part,” defense counsel objected that:

i f the guidelines were decl ared unconstitutional, | would

li ke to come back and argue for a 60-nonth sentence, not

a 75-nonth sentence, because, as the court’s already

pointed out, this seens to be unduly severe from the

st andpoi nt of viewi ng this case outside of the framework

of the guidelines.
In response, the court stated, “Now, that mght be true. Al
right.” The court then elaborated, “No, here’'s what [|’'Il do.
That’s true. They' re both gun charges, too. So, in the exercise
of nmy unfettered discretion, | would inpose a 60-nonth sentence.”
This exchange simlarly indicates that the district court agreed
w th defense counsel that it was “true” that a 75-nonth sentence
affecting both counts “seens to be unduly severe” when viewed
“outside of the framework of” the pre-Booker mandat ory Cui deli nes.

The governnent is again correct that the district court then
stated, “That’s an alternative and it’'s only in the event the
gui del i nes are decl ared unconstitutional. |In total.” However, we
understand the district court’s statenent to nean just what it
plainly reads — that if the Qudelines were declared entirely
unconstitutional, Wlters’'s alternative total sentence would
certainly only be 60 nonths. This statenent does not nean that the
district court would certainly choose inits post-Booker discretion
to inpose 15 nonths on count 1 for a total of 75 nonths on “both
gun charges” sinply because Booker’s result rendered the

Gui delines, which the court was constrained to apply at Walters’s

sentenci ng, advisory instead of “unconstitutional” “[i]n total.”
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Rat her, the court gave nultiple indications at Walters’s sent enci ng
hearing that resentencing would likely yield a conbi ned sentence
| ower than 75 nonths, specifically just the mandatory 60 nonths on
count 2. In light of this record, the governnent’s contention that
the district court “would |ikely” resentence Walters to 75 nonths
in a post-Booker environnment fails. Therefore, we find that the
governnment has not sustained its burden to show harm ess error
beyond a reasonabl e doubt here; Walters is entitled to resentencing
i n accordance w th Booker.
CONCLUSI ON

Accordingly, we VACATE Walters’'s sentence and REMAND for

resent enci ng.

VACATED and REMANDED.
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